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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 
  
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
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BRIEF OF DIVISION OF 
ENFORCEMENT  

 
 
 

 
 The Division of Enforcement hereby respectfully files this brief addressing the questions 

set forth below, as ordered by the Commission in its Order Requesting Briefs, dated April 28, 

2022.   

Question 1  

The first question posed by the Commission is “Was Haynes convicted of several counts 

of exploiting a vulnerable adult in violation of MCL § 750.174a, rather than several counts of 

embezzlement from a vulnerable adult in violation of MCL § 750.174?” 

According to the Information Felony setting out the charges against Haynes, and filed on 

August 17, 2018, he was charged with one count of “Embezzlement from a Vulnerable Adult -- 

$100,000 or More,” in violation of MCL § 750.174a(7)(a) and eight counts of “Embezzlement 

from a Vulnerable Adult -- $1,000 or More but Less Than $20,000” in violation of MCL § 

750.174a(4)(a).  (Ex. 1 hereto at Counts 2 and 3-10.)   

According to the Judgment of Sentence Commitment to Department of Corrections that 

filed against Haynes on February 12, 2019, he was found guilty by a jury of one count of 
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“Embez – From Vul Adult$100” in violation of MCL § 750.174a(7)(a) and eight counts of 

“Vulnerable Adult-Embezmnt” in violation of MCL § 750.174a(4)(a).  (Ex. 2 hereto at 1.)1   

 It thus appears that the allegation in the OIP that “Haynes was convicted by a jury of one 

count of ‘Conducting A Criminal Enterprise’ and of several counts of ‘Embezzlement From A 

Vulnerable Adult’ – violations of MCL 750.159i(1) and 174” (OIP at 1) contained a 

typographical error in citing to MCL 750.174 instead of MCL 750.174a.   

Question 2 
 
 The second question posed by the Commission contains two parts.  First, should the OIP 

be amended?  The Division submits that the OIP need not be amended.   

The Commission may sua sponte ignore inconsequential typographical errors.  SEC v. Scott, 

2015 WL 13742024 at *17 n.5 (E.D.N.Y. 2015) (Court overlooked inconsequential 

typographical errors when SEC mistakenly referred to “17 C.F.R. § 140.10b-5,” in its 

Complaint) citing Reliance Commc'ns LLC v. Retail Store Ventures, Inc., 2013 WL 4039378, at 

*1 n.2 (E.D.N.Y. 2013).  See also Manchester v. Cumberland County Sheriff’s Department, 2016 

WL 7115972 at *2 (D. Maine 2016) (plaintiff used wrong date/year in complaint, and Court 

cited FRCP 60(a) which allows the court, sua sponte, to “correct a clerical mistake or a mistake 

arising from oversight or omission whenever one is found in a judgment, order, or other part of 

the record.”)  See also 11 Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice & Procedure 

§ 2854 (4th ed. 2013) (noting that Rule 60(a) may be used to correct clerical mistakes by the 

parties); 12 James William Moore et al., Moore’s Federal Practice § 60.10 (3d ed. 1997) (same); 

cf. Day v. McDonough, 547 U.S. 198, 210, (2006) (“[I]f a judge does detect a clear computation 

                                                 
1 Haynes was also charged and found guilty by the jury of one count of conducting a criminal 
enterprise in violation of MCL 750.159i(1).  (Ex. 1 at 1; Ex. 2 at 1.)   
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error, no Rule, statute, or constitutional provision commands the judge to suppress that 

knowledge.”). 

Respondent Haynes would not suffer undue prejudice if the Commission acted sua sponte 

to ignore the typographical error in the OIP and proceed as if the OIP cited MCL § 750.174a.  By 

defaulting, and then ignoring the Commission’s earlier order to show cause, Haynes has waived 

any objections he might have on this issue.  Moreover, Haynes was present at the reading of the 

verdict and at his sentencing and therefore knows that he was charged with, and found guilty of, 

violating MCL § 750.174a.  (See Motion of the Division of Enforcement for an Opinion of the 

Commission Finding Respondent in Default, Making Findings, and Imposing Sanctions, filed 

June 9, 2021, Ex. 6 at 3 and Ex. 7 at 3.)  Furthermore, the OIP correctly describes the statute that 

Haynes was charged with, and found guilty of:  “Embezzlement From A Vulnerable Adult.” 

 Second, the Commission asks whether Haynes’s convictions under MCL § 750.174a 

satisfy the statutory predicate for an administrative remedy under Advisers Act Section 203(f)?   

The Division submits that Haynes’s convictions do satisfy Section 203(f) of the Advisers Act.   

 One of the predicate violations which may support the imposition of an administrative 

remedy under Section 203(f) is conviction of a crime involving, among other things, 

“embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, or misappropriation of funds . . .” (Advisers Act Section 

203(e)(2)(C) as incorporated by reference in Section 203(f).)  The Michigan State criminal 

provisions under which Haynes was convicted fall well within the scope of Section 203(e)(2)(C) 

and thus within the scope of Section 203(f).  The charging document and the judgment entered 

against Haynes both list his crimes as “embezzlement.”  (Ex. 1 at 1; Ex. 2 at 1.)  Moreover, the 

statute provides:  
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Sec. 750.174a. 

  (1) A person shall not through fraud, deceit, misrepresentation, coercion, or unjust 
enrichment obtain or use or attempt to obtain or use a vulnerable adult's money or 
property to directly or indirectly benefit that person knowing or having reason to know 
the vulnerable adult is a vulnerable adult. 

* * * * * 
(4) If any of the following apply, the person is guilty of a felony punishable by 
imprisonment for not more than 5 years or a fine of not more than $10,000.00 or 3 times 
the value of the money or property used or obtained or attempted to be used or obtained, 
whichever is greater, or both imprisonment and a fine: 

  (a) The money or property used or obtained, or attempted to be used or obtained, has 
a value of $1,000.00 or more but less than $20,000.00. 

* * * * * 
(7) If any of the following apply, the person is guilty of a felony punishable by 
imprisonment for not more than 20 years or a fine of not more than $50,000.00 or 3 times 
the value of the money or property used or obtained or attempted to be used or obtained, 
whichever is greater, or both imprisonment and a fine: 

  (a) The money or property used or obtained, or attempted to be used or obtained, has   
a value of $100,000.00 or more. 

 
Michigan Legislature - Section 750.174a   

Haynes’s convictions under eight counts of MCL § 750.174a(4)(a) and one count MCL § 

750.174a(7)(a) constituted embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, and fraudulent misappropriation 

of funds, and therefore those convictions satisfy the statutory predicate for an administrative 

remedy under Section 203(f) of the Advisers Act. 

June 9, 2022      Respectfully submitted,  
 

        
  

John E. Birkenheier 
Brian D. Fagel 
Godfried B. Mensah 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
175 West Jackson Boulevard, Suite 1450  
Chicago, IL 60604  
(312) 886-3947  
BirkenheierJ@sec.gov   
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